IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

Appellant,)))))
vs.)
STATE OF FLORIDA,))
Appellee.)

)

JAMES BARNES,

CASE NO. SC08-63

APPEAL FROM THE CIRCUIT COURT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, FLORIDA

INITIAL BRIEF OF APPELLANT

JAMES S. PURDY PUBLIC DEFENDER SEVENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT

GEORGE D.E. BURDEN ASSISTANT PUBLIC DEFENDER FLORIDA BAR NO. 0786438 444 Seabreeze Blvd. Suite 210 Daytona Beach, Florida 32118 (386) 252-3367

ATTORNEY FOR APPELLANT

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

James Phillip Barnes, hereinafter referred to as appellant, was indicted by Grand Jury with Murder in the First Degree; Burglary of Dwelling with an Assault or Battery; two counts of Sexual Battery; and Arson of a Dwelling. (VIII 1454) Prior to appellant's first appearance, the appellant prepared a Motion for Speedy Trial and a Waiver of Representation. (I 4); (VIII 1471, 1473) At first appearance the appellant requested a *Feretta*¹ Hearing, and executed a written Waiver of Counsel at the first appearance. (I 4;VIII 1468)

During the following court appearance, the state advised the court that they were seeking the death penalty. (I 12) The trial court designated an attorney from

¹ Feretta vs. California, 422 U.S. 806 (1975)

the Public Defender's Office as standby counsel. (I 14) The appellant stated that he wished to represent himself because he wanted to make sure that the law was not conspiring against him. (I 26) The appellant stated that he did not have many rights left in this world, and the right to represent himself is one of the only rights that he still has. (I 26) The trial court found that the appellant was capable to represent himself pursuant to *Feretta*.²

The appellant acknowledged that he understood his rights and wished to enter a plea. (I 29) After further inquiry by the court, the appellant pled guilty to all counts. (I 31) After the state provided a factual basis for the charges, the trial court accepted the appellant's guilty pleas to all counts and adjudicated the appellant guilty of all charges. (I 44) The appellant requested a waiver of an advisory jury. (I 45) The appellant explained that it was his strategy to avoid having a jury determine whether the murder was heinous, atrocious and cruel; and he believed that he would have more of a chance before the judge alone. (I 56)

The trial court inquired as to whether the appellant was going to present

² The trial court found that the appellant was competent; that the appellant knowingly, freely and voluntarily exercised his decision to represent himself; that the appellant made a knowing and intelligent waiver of counsel; and the appellant understands the advantages and disadvantages of representing himself. (I 28) The trial court advised the appellant that if he elects to represent himself, he can not later complain about his own representation. (I 28)

evidence at his sentencing hearing. (I 56) The appellant stated that he would defend himself if challenged, but he had no evidence of mitigating circumstances. (I 57) The trial court informed the appellant that there may be an attorney appointed by the court to develop mitigating circumstances pursuant to the statute. (I 58) The trial court found that the appellant knowingly and intelligently waived his right to an advisory jury for the penalty phase. (I 60)

At the next court appearance, the trial court offered the appellant an attorney to represent him. (I 66) The appellant denied the offer to have an attorney represent him. (I 66) The trial court appointed the Office of the Public Defender as standby counsel. (I 68) Attorney Moore of the Public Defender's Office spoke to the appellant, and the appellant stated that he did not want Attorney Moore to have any role in his defense. (I 69) The state prepared an order to produce the appellant's school records. (I 72) The trial court ordered a pre-sentence investigation and a psychological examination. (I 72) The trial court advised the appellant that if the court was dissatisfied with the presentation of mitigation, there would be a *Muhammad*³ Hearing. (I 73)

At the subsequent hearing the trial court again informed the appellant that he

³ Muhammad v. State, 782 So.2d 343 (Fla. 2001)

was at a disadvantage representing himself and offered to appoint the appellant an attorney. (I 90) The appellant understood that he was at a disadvantage and did not want an attorney appointed to represent him. (I 91) The appellant had no idea that the state would seek the death penalty when he came forward to admit his guilt. (I 119)

The trial court ordered that the appellant use the secretary from the Public Defender's Office to coordinate hearing time. (I 132) The appellant objected to the order and stated that he would not contact the Public Defender's Office to schedule hearings. (I 133)

The appellant had a hearing on his *pro se* Motion for Independent DNA testing. (I 153) The state requested a *Feretta* Hearing, and the trial court complied. (I 154) The appellant informed the trial court that he was prepared to begin his sentencing phase right away, and if the trial court further delayed the sentencing hearing he would fight by filing a series of death penalty motions. (I 171) The appellant would demonstrate to the trial court that he was not trying to commit state assisted suicide. (I 171) The trial court denied the appellant's request to obtain an unmonitored cordless telephone to contact witnesses. (I 176)

The trial court held a hearing on appellant's pre-trial motions. (II 195) The trial court held a *Ferretta* Hearing. (II 195) The appellant requested that the state

provide a list of the witnesses that they actually intended to call for the penalty phase. (II 271) The appellant prepared a witness questionnaire and intended to mail them to witnesses with the court's approval. (II 271) The state agreed to prepare a shorter list of possible witnesses for the penalty phase. (II 271) The appellant sought to declare the Florida Death Penalty Statute unconstitutional for various reasons: use of hearsay (II 307); faulty appellate review (II 323, III 410); improper aggravating factor 5(d) (II 342); automatic presumption for death penalty (III 415); prior felony aggravating factor is vague (III 418); under sentence of imprisonment aggravating factor can not be applied retroactively (III 423); and heinous, atrocious and cruel aggravating factor is arbitrary (III 425).

The appellant informed the trial court that he was at a disadvantage representing himself because of his lack of access to the internet. (II 323) The trial court granted the appellant's Motion to Strike Psychological Report submitted by Dr. Riebsame. (II 377) The trial court granted the appellant's Motion for Confidential Psychiatric Advisor. (II 380) The appellant informed the court that he was not going to call a psychologist as a witness. (III 386) The case proceeded to a penalty phase hearing. (III 439)

The state sought to introduce an interview with the appellant made while at prison. (III 468) The appellant objected to the introduction of the tape on the

grounds that he was not Mirandized and it was a custodial interrogation. (III 468) The trial court ruled that the appellant's statement made at prison was freely and voluntarily given, and that the Sixth Amendment did not apply in this matter because the appellant was in custody on other charges and not on this charge. (IV 626) The trial court found that the Fifth Amendment did not apply because appellant's fellow inmate, Sherman Insco, was not a police agent, but an agent of the appellant. (IV 666)

The state sought to introduce evidence of a prior violent felony committed by the appellant. (IV 656) The appellant objected to the state establishing a violent felony that occurred in 1997 for a murder that he committed in 1988. (IV 662) The trial court overruled the objection. (IV 662)

Dr. Quisar was called by the state to review the autopsy pictures of murder victim Patricia Miller and prior violent felony murder victim Linda Barnes.⁴ (V 769) The appellant objected to the introduction of the autopsy pictures of Patricia Miller on the grounds that Dr. Quisar could not authenticate them. (V 769) The state responded that Dr. Quisar could render an expert opinion as to what he reviewed. (V 769) The trial court overruled the appellant's objection. (V 770) The trial court also permitted the admission of the autopsy pictures into evidence over

⁴ The murder of Patricia Miller occurred in 1988 and the prior violent felony

appellant's objection. (V 770)

Dr. Quisar also testified as to the autopsy photographs of Linda Barnes. (V 787) The appellant objected to the testimony of Dr. Quisar on the grounds that the photographs have a lack of authentication. (V 788) The appellant also objected to the testimony of Dr. Quisar on the grounds of hearsay. (V 789)

The appellant objected to the victim impact statement being entered into evidence. (V 805) The victim advocate read the victim impact statement into the record. (V 806) The state rests. (V 802)

The appellant announced that he had no mitigation evidence to offer. (R 809) Standby counsel, Attorney Moore, explained mitigation evidence preparation to the appellant. (V 810) The appellant did not want mitigation evidence presented. (V 810) It was recommended that standby counsel talk to all family members and order a full battery of neuro-psychological testing. (V 810) There would be follow-up based on the recommendations of psychologists or psychiatrists. (V 810) The appellant stated that if a doctor came to visit he would not cooperate and would quote "*Stell v. Smith*".⁵ (V 811)

murder of Linda Barnes occurred in 1997.

⁵ The appellant was likely referring to *Smith v. Estelle*, 602 Fed.2d 694 (C.A. Tex 1979). This case holds that a criminal defendant may not be compelled to speak to psychiatrist who can use his statements against him at sentencing phase of a capital trial.

The trial court observed that the appellant indicated at the very beginning he had a strategy that would become apparent, and observed that to this day the trial court did not know the appellant's strategy. (V 813) The appellant explained that his strategy was to tell the truth and "man up" to what he had done. (V 814) The appellant further explained that the court has a PSI, doctor report and school records. (V 815) The appellant stated that he is a "burned out sociopath... simple as that." (V 815) The appellant is in his early forties and it is one of those things that happen. (V 815) The appellant "cleaned the slate on this" and that has been the strategy the whole time. (V 815)

The trial court decided to appoint counsel to bring forth mitigation. (V 832) The trial court directed that a status hearing be conducted in two weeks where a special counsel will be determined and a new PSI ordered. (V 833) The appellant noted for the record that if anyone tries to contact him for any reason he would have nothing to say. (V 834)

The trial court appointed Attorney Bardwell as the court's attorney to develop mitigation for the appellant. (V 839) The appellant objected to the proceedings and Attorney Bardwell's assistance on Sixth Amendment grounds. (V 847; 869) The appellant would not answer any questions from Attorney Bardwell. (V 847) The appellant renewed his objection to the assistance of Attorney Bardwell. (V 869) The trial court overruled the appellant's objection. (V 871) The appellant further objected to the release of any of his mental health or medical information under the HIPPA Law: "I don't want any of my personal information shown to anybody. I have personal issues or had personal issues and I left them at home at a very young age legally. I'm going to invoke HIPPA right now and say hey, I object strenuously to it." (V 878-79)

The appellant objected to Attorney Bardwell examining his prison records to develop mitigation. (VI 986) The appellant stated that from the very beginning that he was trying to put his best foot forward. (VI 986) The appellant did not want to go into his prison record and his past exposed. (VI 986)

The appellant filed a Motion to Allow Defendant Pro Se, Right to Representation During Critical Stage of Proceedings. (VI 996) The appellant argued that he had a constitutional right to represent himself and was competent to do so. (VI 996) The appellant further argued pursuant to *Goldsmith v. State*, 930 So. 2d 1253 (Fla. 2nd DCA 2006) that he had the right to control the over-all objective of his defense and he was asserting that right. (VI 997) The appellant argued during this critical stage of his penalty phase trial that he had the right to self-representation. (VI 997) The appellant requested that the court modify their previous ruling and allow him to represent himself during the penalty phase. (VI 997)

Attorney Bardwell argued that the appellant was not being deprived of selfrepresentation, and was seeking a right he did not have and that was to veto the actions of appropriately appointed counsel having a legitimate constitutionally mandated objective to prevent the court from imposing a death sentence. (VI 998) The state has an independent interest in ensuring that the death penalty is used in the appropriate fashion, and only in those situations for which there is a careful weighing of all circumstances. (VI 999) The trial court granted the appellant's motion. (VI 999) The trial court had already permitted the appellant to introduce his mitigation.⁶ (VI 999)

The appellant also made a motion to strike Attorney Bardwell's witness list. (VI 1001) The appellant objected to the evidence and witnesses prepared by Attorney Bardwell because they would be prejudicial and were not part the strategy that he prepared on his own behalf. (VI 1002) The trial court denied the appellant's motion without prejudice because the trial court had not heard the witnesses or seen the evidence at this point. (VI 1005)

⁶ The trial court accepted the appellant's presentation of mitigation that the appellant came forward and cooperated. The trial court would weigh that mitigation, and would use Attorney Bardwell to obtain further mitigation. (V 999)

During a status hearing, the appellant requested the ability to confer with Attorney Bardwell before the Spencer Hearing so he could discuss what matters would be brought up and what matters would not be brought up. (VI 1021) The state expressed concern that Attorney Bardwell had been appointed by the court to provide evidence to the court independent of the state and the defendant. (VI 1021) Ordering Attorney Bardwell to confer with appellant, and making any agreements with the appellant would give him a different role. (VI 1021) The trial court ordered Attorney Bardwell to confer with the appellant and stand-by counsel Moore for the purpose of informing the appellant of the mitigation evidence. (VI 1025)

The appellant and Attorney Bardwell met pursuant to the court order. (S 4-34) The two could not reach agreement on the proper presentation of mitigating evidence. (S 34)

The appellant made a motion to disqualify Attorney Bardwell. (VI 1060) The appellant introduced a letter written by Attorney Bardwell to the appellant which stated "I am not going to beg you to cooperate with my tasks since I have no strong-felt aversion to the death penalty in this case. And I have no ethical obligation to represent your best interest." (VI 1060) The trial court denied the motion on the grounds that it did not believe the motion was relevant to the

11

proceedings. (VI 1064)

The appellant made a *ore tenus* motion to disqualify the judge on the grounds that he could not get a fair hearing. (VI 1071) The trial court denied the *ore tenus* motion stating that the appellant needed to file an appropriate motion. (VI 1071)

The trial court conducted a Spencer Hearing. (VII 1085) The Department of Corrections prepared a PSI pursuant to Rule 3.710(b).⁷ (VII 1102) At the direction of Attorney Bardwell, Investigator Sirois prepared mitigation materials to be attached to the presentence investigation as an addendum. (VII 1102) The appellant objected to this procedure on the grounds that Rule 3.710(b) does not apply because he challenged the death penalty and argued seventeen death penalty motions. (VII 1106) The appellant further objected to the addendum to the PSI on the grounds that he has a right to confront the evidence placed in it. (VII 1107)

Attorney Bardwell argued that since the appellant presented no mitigating circumstances in this case, Rule 3.710(b) applies. (VII 1107) Attorney Bardwell

⁷ Rule 3.710(b) of the Florida Rules of Criminal Procedure provides that should the defendant in a capital case choose not to challenge the death penalty and refuses to present mitigation evidence, the court shall refer the case to the Department of Corrections for preparation of pre sentence report. The report shall be comprehensive and should include information such as previous mental problems, including hospitalization, school records, and relevant family background.

further argued that the Confrontation Clause had no application because there had been no accusatory fact lodged against the appellant. (VII 1109) The appellant cited *Rogers v. State*⁸[sic] wherein the Confrontation Clause applies to the guilt phase/penalty phase and sentencing. (VII 1110) The appellant argued that he has the right to contest anything entered into evidence. (VII 1110) The court ruled that the presentence investigation and the addendum prepared by Attorney Bardwell will be considered together. (VII 1111)

The appellant made a Motion to Strike the presentence investigation submitted by the Florida Department of Corrections citing *Crawford v*. *Washington*, 541 U.S. 36 (2004). (VII 1127) The trial court overruled the appellant's motion and would review the PSI for evidence of mitigation. (VII 1131) The appellant made a Motion to Strike Dr. Riebsame's assessment report. (VII 1132) The appellant argued that the information in Dr. Riebsame's report was more prejudicial than probative and more aggravating than mitigating. (VII 1136) The appellant cited *Smith v. Estelle*, 602 Fed.2d 694 (C.A. Tex 1979) which held that introducing medical records is forcing the appellant to incriminate himself.

⁸ Rodgers v. State, 948 So.2d 655 (Fla. 2006)

(VII 1137)

The appellant objected to Dr. Riebsame issuing an opinion as to whether or not the appellant suffered from mental or emotional disturbance at the time of the offense. (VII 1182) The appellant objected to the testimony of Dr. Riebsame because testimony did not establish mitigating circumstances. (VII 1189) The appellant further objected to the testimony of Dr. Riebsame because he was reading from a report that was excluded from evidence. (VII 1193) At the conclusion of the Spencer Hearing, the appellant stated he was not preparing a memorandum of law concerning the death penalty. (VIII 1285)

The trial court issued a Sentencing Order and found that there were six aggravating factors,⁹ and the trial court assigned each aggravating factor great weight. (VIII 1384-1408) The trial court found there was statutory mitigation. (VIII 1415) The trial court found that the appellant was under the influence of an extreme mental disturbance, but that the appellant was not substantially impaired

⁹ Capital Felony was Committed by a Person Under Sentence of Imprisonment; Defendant was Previously Convicted of Another Capital Felony or a Felony Involving Violence; Capital Felony was Committed While the Defendant was Engaged in the Commission of a Sexual Battery and a Burglary; The Capital Felony was Committed for the Purpose of Avoiding or Preventing Lawful Arrest; The Capital Felony was Heinous, Atrocious or Cruel; The Capital Felony was committed in a Cold, Calculated and Premeditated Manner.

to the extent that he did not have the capacity to appreciate the criminality of his conduct or to conform his conduct to the requirements of law. (VIII 1415) The trial court assigned no weight to this mitigator. (VIII 1415) The trial court found some non-statutory mitigation, but gave it little weight. (VIII 1416-23) The trial court found that each of the six statutory aggravating factors standing alone outweigh all of the mitigating circumstances combined. (VIII 1425) The trial court sentenced the appellant to death as to Count I; Count II-IV the appellant was sentenced to life imprisonment to run consecutively to one another; and on Count V the appellant was sentenced to thirty (30) years to run consecutive to all other counts. (VIII 1428) The Office of the Public Defender was appointed. (XII 2088) This appeal follows.

STATEMENT OF THE FACTS

Melbourne Police Detective Dennis Nichols investigated the homicide of Patricia Miller. (III 440) On April 20, 1988, Nichols was called to respond to a condominium complex where there had been a fire. (III 441) In the master bedroom lying on the bed was the burnt body of a nude female with her hands bound behind her back. (III 446) Appellant was interviewed as a suspect in 1988, and provided a blood sample. (III 462) Detective Nichols could not develop any leads because of the limitations of DNA processing. (III 462) Ten years later the crime scene evidence was processed again, and there was a DNA match to the appellant. (III 462) Detective Nichols then visited the appellant in prison, and the appellant refused to speak to Nichols. (III 464) The investigative work to solve this murder stalled over the following years.

In October of 2005 the appellant sent a letter to state attorney Hunt stating that he will confess to an unresolved matter to a fellow inmate named Sherman Insco. (III 503) The appellant's offer to confess was open until Ramadan¹⁰ ends.

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