#### IN THE SUPREME COURT OF FLORIDA

JAMES PHILLIP BARNES,	
Appellant,	Case No. SC08-63
<b>v.</b>	
STATE OF FLORIDA,	
Appellee.	

## ON APPEAL FROM THE EIGHTEENTH JUDICIAL CIRCUIT IN AND FOR BREVARD COUNTY, STATE OF FLORIDA

### **ANSWER BRIEF OF APPELLEE**

BILL McCOLLUM ATTORNEY GENERAL

BARBARA C. DAVIS ASSISTANT ATTORNEY GENERAL Fla. Bar #410519 444 Seabreeze Blvd., 5th FL Daytona Beach, FL 32118 (386) 238-4990 Fax # (386) 226-0457 COUNSEL FOR APPELLEE

###

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

- 1. Under sentence of imprisonment great weight;
- 2. Prior violent felony great weight;
- 3. During a sexual battery and a burglary great weight;
- 4. Avoid arrest great weight;
- 5. Heinous, atrocious, and cruel great weight; and
- 6. Cold, calculated, and premeditated great weight.

(V8, R1383-1408, 1425; V11, R2031-45).

The court found the following statutory mitigator:

1. Extreme mental or emotional disturbance - slight weight.

The court found the following non-statutory mitigators:

- 1. The defendant came forward and revealed his involvement in the unsolved crime-little weight;
- 2. The defendant took responsibility for his acts little weight;
- 3. The defendant has experienced prolonged drug use little weight;
- 4. The defendant did not have the benefit of a loving relationship with his mother little weight;
- 5. The defendant did not have the benefit of a loving relationship with his father little weight;
- 6. The defendant was sexually abused as a child slight weight;

- 7. The defendant has taken steps to improve himself little weight;
- 8. The defendant is a functional and capable person and has demonstrated by his actions and participation in this case that he has sufficient intelligence and capabilities to contribute to society little weight.

(V8, R1416-23, V11, R2047-54). The court additionally held that "each of the six aggravating factors standing alone outweigh all of the mitigating circumstances combined." (V11, 2055).

No notice of appeal was filed. This Court received the certified Judgment and Sentence on January 14, 2008. (V12, R2076). This Court treated the judgment as a notice of appeal and ordered the record on appeal. (V12, R2077-79). The trial judge was ordered to hold a status conference to complete the record on appeal. (V12, R1278). The trial judge held a hearing on March 26, 2008. (V12, R1434). Barnes refused to come out of his cell for the hearing. (V8, R1437). Prison staff asked Barnes to sign a waiver form, but he refused to sign. (V12, R2082). Mr. Moore, Office of the Public Defender, had been noticed for the status hearing, but indicated that Barnes did not want to file an appeal. (V8, R1441). However, Mr. Moore indicated that if the Court appointed him to perfect the appeal, he would follow the court's order and "he can file his grievance, I suppose, against Mr. Russo and myself for acting against his wishes." (V8, R1441). Mr. Moore also told the judge:

He didn't want a penalty phase. He didn't want an appeal. He didn't want any representation by my office of any other lawyer in this matter.

(V12, R1442).

Over Mr. Moore's objection, the trial judge appointed the Public Defender. (V12, R1450). Mr. Moore filed a Statement of Judicial Acts to be Reviewed and Directions to the Clerk. (V12, R2085, 2086).

## **SUMMARY OF ARGUMENTS**

Claim I: The trial court did not abuse its discretion by following this Court's procedures outlined in *Muhammad* and appointing special counsel to investigate and present available mitigation. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by following this Court's procedures outlined in Rule 3.710(b) and ordering a presentence investigation report after Barnes refused to present mitigation. Error, if any, was harmless. If the mitigation presented by special counsel and anything gleaned from the PSI were stricken, Barnes would still have a death sentence.

Claim II: This issue is waived. Barnes' relies on grounds and arguments on appeal that were not raised at the trial level. *Crawford* was not violated in the sentencing proceedings. Barnes' right to confrontation was not implicated, because mitigation information is not information used *against* a defendant or to prosecute him. Error, if any, was harmless. Even if the PSI should have been stricken, the trial judge did not rely on hearsay evidence in sentencing. Further, if there was any mitigation derived from the PSI and it was stricken, Barnes would still have a death sentence.

**Claim III:** Although not raised by Barnes, this Court automatically reviews the evidence and proportionality of the death sentence. There is sufficient evidence and the death sentence is proportional.

## **CLAIM I**

THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION BY FOLLOWING THE COURT'S PROCEDURES OUTLINED IN *MUHAMMAD* AND RULE 3.710(b); ERROR, IF ANY, WAS HARMLESS.

Barnes argues that the trial court violated his Sixth Amendment right to self-representation by appointing counsel to present mitigating circumstances after Barnes waived the advisory jury and refused to present mitigation. He also argues that Rule 3.710(b) does not apply to this case because he did present mitigation. Rule 3.710(b), *Fla.R.Crim.P.* (Initial Brief at 39). Barnes argues in the alternative that if Rule 3.710(b) does apply, the documentation gathered by the Department of Corrections suffices to fulfill the trial court's responsibility to gather mitigating evidence. (Initial Brief at 39). <sup>19</sup>

I. The trial court did not abuse its discretion by appointing *Muhammad* counsel. When Barnes stated he would present no mitigation, the trial judge scrupulously followed this Court's procedure outlined in *Muhammad v. State*, 782 So. 2d 343 (Fla. 2001). In *Muhammad*, this Court outlined the procedure to be followed when a defendant refuses to present mitigation:

It is clear from our previous cases that we expect and encourage trial courts to consider mitigating evidence, even when the defendant refuses

<sup>&</sup>lt;sup>19</sup> The State notes that in Claim II, Barnes argues that Rule 3.710(b) violates the Confrontation Clause and *Crawford v. Washington*.

to present mitigating evidence. We have repeatedly emphasized the duty of the trial court to consider all mitigating evidence "contained anywhere in the record, to the extent it is believable and uncontroverted." *Farr v. State*, 621 So. 2d 1368, 1369 (Fla. 1993) ("*Farr I*"); see, e.g., Hauser v. *State*, 701 So. 2d 329, 330-31 (Fla. 1997); *Robinson v. State*, 684 So. 2d 175, 176, 179 (Fla. 1996). This requirement "applies with no less force when a defendant argues in favor of the death penalty, and even if the defendant asks the court not to consider mitigating evidence." *Farr I*, 621 So. 2d at 1369.

In the past, we have encouraged trial courts to order the preparation of a PSI to determine the existence of mitigating circumstances "in at least those cases in which the defendant essentially is not challenging the imposition of the death penalty." Farr v. State, 656 So. 2d 448, 450 (Fla. 1995) ("Farr II"); see Allen v. State, 662 So. 2d 323, 330 (Fla. 1995). Having continued to struggle with how to ensure reliability, fairness, and uniformity in the imposition of the death penalty in these rare cases where the defendant waives mitigation, we have now concluded that the better policy will be to require the preparation of a PSI in every case where the defendant is not challenging the imposition of the death penalty and refuses to present mitigation evidence. n10 To be meaningful, the PSI should be comprehensive and should include information such as mental health problems (including hospitalizations), school records, and relevant family background. In addition, the trial court could require the State to place in the record all evidence in its possession of a mitigating nature such as school records, military records, and medical records. n11 Further, if the PSI and the accompanying records alert the trial court to the probability of significant mitigation, the trial court has the discretion to call persons with mitigating evidence as its own witnesses.

. . . .

If the trial court prefers that counsel present mitigation rather than calling its own witnesses, the trial court possesses the discretion to appoint counsel to present the mitigation as was done in *Klokoc v. State*, 589 So. 2d 219 (Fla. 1991) n14 or to utilize standby counsel for this limited purpose. n15

n10 A majority of this Court has concurred that a presentence

investigation report should be ordered in all capital cases just as it is a mandatory requirement in all other criminal cases. *See Nelson v. State*, 748 So. 2d 237, 246 (Fla. 1999) (Pariente, J., concurring specially).

n11 This is consistent with the prosecutors' existing obligations. Florida Rule of Professional Conduct 4-3.8(c) provides that prosecutors shall "make timely disclosure to the defense of all evidence or information known to the prosecutor that tends to negate the guilt of the accused or mitigates the offense, and, in connection with sentencing, disclose to the defense and to the tribunal all unprivileged mitigating information known to the prosecutor."

n14 During the trial in *Klokoc*, the defendant refused to allow his counsel to present mitigating evidence. 589 So. 2d at 220. The trial court denied counsel's motion to withdraw "but, in view of Klokoc's lack of cooperation with his counsel, the court appointed special counsel to represent the public interest in bringing forth mitigating factors to be considered by the court in the sentencing proceedings." *Klokoc*, 589 So. 2d at 220. As a result of the mitigation presented by special counsel, this Court reduced Klokoc's sentence of death to life.

n15 Any counsel performing this function would be acting solely as an officer of the court. Assuming that the defendant had knowingly and intelligent waived the presentation of mitigating evidence, the defendant would be barred from subsequently claiming that counsel's performance was ineffective in the presentation of mitigating evidence. *See Koon v. Dugger*, 619 So. 2d 246, 249-50 (Fla. 1993).

In all capital cases, this Court is constitutionally required "to engage in a thoughtful, deliberate proportionality review to consider the totality of circumstances in a case, and to compare it with other capital cases." *Porter v. State*, 564 So. 2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 1990); *see*, *e.g.*, *Urbin v. State*, 714 So. 2d 411, 416 (Fla. 1998); *Tillman v. State*, 591 So. 2d 167, 169 (Fla. 1991). This case provides a perfect example of why the defendant's failure to present mitigating evidence makes it difficult, if not

impossible, for this Court to adequately compare the aggravating and mitigating circumstances in this case to those present in other death penalty cases.

Muhammad, 782 So. 2d at 364-65 (Fla. 2001).

Barnes argues that his Sixth Amendment right to self-representation outweighs any constitutional requirement to an individualized consideration before a death sentence is imposed. The requirement of an individualized sentencing is well-established. *Stringer v. Black*, 503 U.S. 222, 231 (U.S. 1992) (To determine the appropriate sentence, the sentencer must engage in a "broad inquiry into all relevant mitigating evidence to allow an individualized determination.") *Buchanan v. Angelone*, 522 U.S. 269, 276 (1998). *California v. Brown*, 479 U.S. 538, 545 (1987); ("[E]vidence about the defendant's background and character is relevant because of the belief, long held by this society, that defendants who commit criminal acts that are attributable to a disadvantaged background, or to emotional and mental problems, may be less culpable than defendants who have no such excuse."); *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586, 605 (U.S. 1978).

To pass constitutional muster, the United States Supreme Court has held that there must be a broad inquiry into all relevant mitigating evidence to allow an individualized determination. *Tuilaepa v. California*, 512 U.S. 967, 971-973 (1994); *Romano v. Oklahoma*, 512 U.S. 1, 6-7 (1994); *McCleskey v. Kemp*, 481 U.S. 279, 304-306 (1987). The sentencer may not be precluded from considering, and may not refuse

U.S. 302, 317-318 (1989); *Eddings v. Oklahoma*, 455 U.S. 104, 113-114 (1982); *Lockett v. Ohio*, 438 U.S. 586, 604 (1978). The importance of individualized sentencing and review of all mitigation was summarized in *Woodson v. North Carolina*, 428 U.S. 280, 304-305 (U.S. 1976):

This conclusion rests squarely on the predicate that the penalty of death is qualitatively different from a sentence of imprisonment, however long. Death, in its finality, differs more from life imprisonment than a 100-year prison term differs from one of only a year or two. Because of that qualitative difference, there is a corresponding difference in the need for reliability in the determination that death is the appropriate punishment in a specific case.

Barnes asks this Court to disregard the tenets of the United States Supreme Court, discard this Court's precedent in *Muhammad*, and allow him to be sentenced to death without consideration of mitigation. The question is whether the trial court abused its discretion by following this Court's mandate, and the answer is "no." *See Fitzpatrick v. State*, 900 So. 2d 495, 523-24 (Fla. 2005) (trial court correctly followed this Court's dictate that "mitigating evidence must be considered and weighed" if a defendant refuses to present mitigation); *Grim v. State*, 841 So. 2d 455, 462 (Fla. 2003); *Ocha v. State*, 826 So. 2d 956, 962 (Fla. 2002) (trial judge has duty to independently examine the record for any evidence of mitigation, whether presented by the defendant or not). As stated in *Ocha*, "Discretion is abused only when the judicial action is arbitrary, fanciful, or unreasonable . . ." Following this Court's established

case law is hardly arbitrary.

Justice Pariente addressed the juxtaposition of the right to counsel and the requirement of an individualized sentencing in her concurrence in *Muhammad*:

Although the defendant may have a right to plead guilty, the defendant has no corresponding "right" after conviction to have the death penalty imposed based on a waiver of the right to present mitigation. See § 921.141(1), Fla. Stat. (2000) (providing for a penalty phase proceeding in those cases where the defendant pleaded guilty to first-degree murder). Rather, pursuant to Florida's statutory scheme, whether or not the death penalty should be imposed must be determined by an independent review of the aggravating circumstances and mitigating factors to ensure that the death penalty is fairly, reliably and uniformly imposed. In all capital cases, this Court is constitutionally required "to engage in a thoughtful, deliberate proportionality review to consider the totality of circumstances in a case, and to compare it with other capital cases." *Porter v. State*, 564 So. 2d 1060, 1064 (Fla. 1990); see, e.g., Urbin v. State, 714 So. 2d 411, 416 (Fla. 1998); Tillman v. State, 591 So. 2d 167, 169 (Fla. 1991). We cannot permit this constitutional obligation to be thwarted by the defendant's own actions or inactions.

Moreover, it is not necessarily those most deserving of the death penalty (e. g., the most aggravated and least mitigated) who seek its imposition and refuse to present mitigation. Rather, in some cases, those seeking the death penalty, while competent, may suffer from serious underlying mental illnesses. The case of *Klokoc* is a salient example of this fact. As we noted in *Klokoc*:

While this record reflects that this murder occurred when Klokoc was not in a heightened rage, it is unrefuted in this record that he was under extreme emotional distress. The record also establishes that he suffers from bipolar affective disorder, manic type with paranoid features, and that his family has a history of suicide, emotional disturbance, and alcoholism. Further, he had no record of prior criminal activity.

Klokoc, 589 So. 2d at 222 (emphasis supplied). In Klokoc, although the

defendant refused to put on mitigation, the Court unanimously reduced the death sentence to life based on specially appointed counsel's presentation of mitigating evidence, including evidence of mental illness.

Klokoc is also an example of the importance of a uniform procedure for evaluating mitigating evidence before imposition of the death penalty in these rare cases and the benefits of appointing special counsel. In Klokoc, the trial court denied counsel's motion to withdraw "but, in view of Klokoc's lack of cooperation with his counsel, the court appointed special counsel to represent the public interest in bringing forth mitigating factors to be considered by the court in the sentencing proceeding." 589 So. 2d at 220. As a result of the procedure of appointing special counsel in Klokoc to present mitigating evidence during the penalty phase, we unanimously reversed Klokoc's death sentence on the grounds that the mitigating evidence in the record rendered the death sentence disproportionate. Essentially, this reversal was over the defendant's own objection. See id. at 222.

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